FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/17/2022
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
11/16/2022 4:14 PM

No.

101470-8

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I STATE OF WASHINGTON No. 83002-3

DR. HUNG DANG, M.D.,

Petitioner,

VS.

FLOYD PFLUEGER & RINGER, P.S., a
Washington Professional Services Corporation, and; REBECCA
SUE RINGER, an individual,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Brian J. Waid WSBA No. 26038 WAID LAW OFFICE, PLLC 5400 California Ave. S.W. Ste D Seattle, Washington 98136 Telephone: 206-388-1926 Email: bjwaid@waidlawoffice.com Attorney for Petitioner

I. Identity of Petitioner

Petitioner Dr. Hung Dang, M.D., plaintiff in the underlying legal malpractice lawsuit and Appellant in Division I, seeks review of the published decision by Division I, as authorized by RAP 13.4(a).

II. Citation to Court of Appeals Decision

Petitioner Dr. Dang seeks review of the Court of Appeals' October 17, 2022 published decision affirming dismissal of his legal malpractice complaint bearing Westlaw citation __Wn. App. 2d __, 518 P.3d 671 (2022). Appx. 001.

III. Issues Presented for Review

A. Proximate Cause

Petitioner seeks review from the fourth in a series of four (4) legal malpractice appeals submitted for decision this year in which Division I has been called upon to decide whether a genuine issue of material fact remains in dispute relative to proximate cause. Here, Division I held that Dr.

¹ In addition to this Petition: (1) Spice v. Lake, Supreme Court case no.

Dang did not establish that a genuine issue of material fact remained in dispute relative to whether he may have received a lesser (or no) discipline from MQAC but for Ms. Ringer's negligence. (Neither Patient B or C sustained harm as a result of Dr. Dang's alleged conduct).

Division I held that "we do not review in this appeal the propriety of the findings that MQAC made." 518 P.3d at 683. However, this Court has previously held that the victim of legal malpractice is *not* bound by collateral estoppel in the follow-on legal malpractice case when the lawyer's negligence induced the client's loss. *Barr v. Day,* 124 Wn.2d 318, 879 P.2d 912 (1994).

Moreover, the MQAC decisions relative to Patient B and C, based on RCW 18.130.180 [Appx. 25], conflict with both EMTALA and the standards established by this Court's prior

^{1012501 (}Petition for Review pending); (2) Cox v. Lasher Holzapfel, Supreme Court case no. 1014155 (Petition for Review pending) and; (3) Angelo v. Kindinger, case no. 82388-4, 2022 WL1008314. Petitioner maintains that Division I reached the correct result in Angelo v. Kindinger.

decisions in *Haley v. Medical Disciplinary Board*, 117 Wn.2d 728, 818 P.2d 1062 (1991), *In re Kindschi*, 52 Wn.2d 8, 319 P.2d 824 (1958) (physician's conviction for tax fraud), and *Standow v. Spokane*, 88 Wn.2d 624, 564 P.2d 1145 (1977), and the Court of Appeals in *In re: Farina*, 94 Wn. App. 441, 460, 972 P.2d 531 (1999).

- 1. Does the Division I refusal to review the propriety of MQAC's findings in the underlying disciplinary proceeding conflict with this Court's prior decision in *Barr v. Day* and thus warrant review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) and/or (b)(2)?
- 2. Considering that Division I based its proximate cause decision relative to "Patient B" and "Patient C" on an erroneous interpretation of RCW 18.130.180 and EMTALA that conflicts with prior decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals, should the Court grant review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) and/or (b)(2)?
- 3. Considering that a legal malpractice plaintiff may not introduce expert testimony to establish the probable

outcome of the underlying matter and all reasonable inferences must be drawn in his favor, did Petitioner Dang establish that a genuine issue of material fact remains in dispute relative to proximate cause?

B. Attorney Judgment Rule

In addition to the issue of proximate cause, Division I also held that the "attorney judgment rule" is a "component of the standard of care." 518 P.3d at 679. Although this Court has never ruled on the nature of the attorney judgment rule, the Division I decision conflicts with this Court's analogous decision in *Fergen v. Sestero*, 182 Wn.2d 794, 805, 346 P.3d 708 (2015), which arose in the context of medical malpractice and WPI 105.08 (the jury related to judgmental immunity) in which the Court held that judgmental immunity "does not alter or add any additional elements for a plaintiff to prove." (Emphasis added).

Significant confusion exists relative to application of the attorney judgment rule and, unfortunately, the Division 1

decision has merely added to that confusion. See, e.g. 2

Mallen, Legal Malpractice §19.1, pp. 1244 (2022 ed.); 4

Mallen, supra at §33:17, pp. 703-722, and 2 Mallen, supra at §19.1, pp. 1238-1245 ("In contrast to a true 'immunity' defense which avoids liability for tortious conduct, the 'judgmental immunity' negates only fault').²

Here, Dr. Dang's standard of care expert established that a genuine issue of material fact remained in disputed relative to the attorney judgment rule—and yet, Division I deemed that testimony insufficient to defeat summary judgment. CP 1468-1486. How then can a victim of legal malpractice *ever* defeat a defense motion for summary judgment based on the attorney judgment rule?

 Considering that the Division I opinion in this case conflicts with this Court's decision in Fergen v. Sestero, 182
 Wn.2d 794, 805, 346 P.3d 708 (2015) and rejects the express

² The "attorney judgment rule" is also at issue in the *Cox* case referenced in footnote 1, above.

language relative to the nature of the attorney judgment rule enunciated in the Division I and Division II decisions in Spencer v. Badgley-Mullins Turner, PLLC, 6 Wn. App. 2d 762, 796, 432 P.3d 821 (2018) and Clark Cnty Fire Dist. No. 5 v. Bullivant Houser Bailey, P.C., 180 Wn. App. 689, 707, 324 P.3d 743 (2014), should the Court grant review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) and/or RAP 13(b)(2)?

IV. Statement of the Case

A. The Underlying MQAC Proceedings

Dr. Hung Dang is a board-certified otolaryngologist

("ENT") who, at all times relevant to these proceedings (20112017), was employed by Group Health Physicians Group

("GHC") and assigned to St. Joseph's Medical Center in

Tacoma. CP 413-414 (Ans. to 'Rog. no. 15); CP 525, 549

(¶1.1), 566 (¶1.1). At least as early as 2011, problems

arose between CHI Franciscan and the ENT's employed by

GHC over Franciscan's community call protocols and

procedures as applied to the GHC otolaryngologists. CP 517-

523, 617-633.

When those problems remained unresolved, a new Vice President at Franciscan reported alleged violations by Dr. Dang of the federal Emergency Medical Treatment & Labor Act ("EMTALA") to the Medical Quality Assurance Commission ("MQAC") for allegedly declining to accept patients referred from Franciscan facilities other than St.

Joseph's. Dr. Dang's employer (GHC) retained the Defendant law firm of Floyd Pflueger & Ringer, P.S. and Defendant Rebecca Sue Ringer to defend Dr. Dang in the disciplinary proceeding. CP 0007 ¶3.12; CP 0035 ¶1.18; CP 0366-0367(31:20-36:5), CP 369 (49:15-19); CP 421-511.

Early in her representation, and prior to the filing of any disciplinary charges against Dr. Dang, Ms. Ringer knew of the critical and long-standing dispute between Franciscan and the GHC otolaryngologists over "community call." *E.g.*, CP 518-523, 526-527. Thus, in her June 24, 2015 submission to the MQAC staff, Ms. Ringer explained that the EMTALA

allegations against Dr. Dang arose out of "disagreement regarding the scope of community call for admitting providers at FHS hospitals" due to "inconsistent call protocols" followed by Franciscan. CP 526. And, more specifically, Dr. Dang had not committed the alleged EMTALA violations because "Dr. Dang was not on call for St. Clare Hospital." *Id.* Ms. Ringer thus recognized from the outset of her representation the critical importance of proving the nature of the "disagreement regarding the scope of community call" and the "inconsistent" call protocols to the defense of the disciplinary proceeding.

On March 30, 2016, the MQAC issued a Statement of Charges against Dr. Dang. CP 0534. Days later, on April 4, 2016, MQAC issued a Corrected Statement of Charges against Dr. Dang, which included the following allegations [CP 0550-551]:

A. Dr. Dang violated the community standard of care, Emergency Medical Treatment and Labor Act

³ St. Clare and St. Francis Hospitals, and *not* St. Joseph's with which Dr. Dang was affiliated, were the sources of the patients.

- (EMTALA), and his ethical obligations as a physician when he refused to treat Patient A [1.6]
- B. Dr. Dang violated the community standard of care, Emergency Medical Treatment and Labor Act (EMTALA), and his ethical obligations as a physician when he refused to treat Patient B [1.10]
- C. Dr. Dang violated the community standard of care, Emergency Medical Treatment and Labor Act (EMTALA), and his ethical obligations as a physician when he refused to treat Patient A [1.16]

MQAC further alleged that Dr. Dang's conduct relative to Patients A, B, and C constituted "unprofessional conduct in violation of RCW 18.130.180(1), (4), and (7) and EMTALA, 42 USC Sec. 13955dd(d)(1)(B) and (C)." CP 551 ¶2.1.

Ms. Ringer's defense of Dr. Dang *always* relied upon and emphasized the dispute between the GHC otolaryngologists and Franciscan. For example, Ms. Ringer's primary argument in her Pre-Hearing Memorandum on behalf of Dr. Dang opened with the following assertion [CP 589]:

⁴ CP 1483-1484, 1485 ("when a lawyer has a controlling theory of her case, as evidenced by Ms. Ringer's letter to Ms. De Leon and Mr. Glein, the narrative in her Prehearing Statement, her opening statement and her

Dr. Dang's exercise of medical judgment not to accept the transfers of Patients A, B, and C did not occur in a vacuum. Instead, this decision was influenced by the political realities surrounding FHS's community call protocols and procedures for patient transfer. . .

For the past several years, there has been disagreement regarding the scope of community call for admitting providers at FHS hospitals. Under the FHS Medical Staff Bylaws and Rules and Regulations, community call is specific to each campus rather than the entire FHS network. Nonetheless, although their [i.e., ENT's employed by GHC] practice is only affiliated with St. Joseph, FHS previously required Dr. Dang and his ENT group to take community call for all FHS campuses against their own written bylaws. In practice, this meant that patients who presented to outlying hospitals in the FHS network were sometimes transferred to St. Joseph for ENT consultations with Dr. Dang and his group.

Ms. Ringer's Opening Statement during the disciplinary hearing similarly opened with and emphasized the "long-standing dispute" between GHC and Franciscan over its community call protocols and procedures for transfer of patients, explaining [CP 670-682]:

...[T]his was an ongoing topic of discussion because the ENT surgeons and probably other specialties—other

closing argument to the MQAC panel, that lawyer has an obligation to her client to marshal all available evidence in support of that controlling theory").

specialists saw that this wasn't what the bylaws of the hospital say; that they are not actually to be on call to the emergency department at these other hospitals. And the practice continued during these conversations that the groups were having with the administration at St. Joseph Hospital.

Unfortunately, Ms. Ringer had *presumed* that the adverse parties and witnesses would not dispute the existence of the long-standing dispute between the GHC otolaryngologists and Franciscan during the MQAC proceeding. More specifically, the Witness and Exhibit List submitted by Ms. Ringer on behalf of Dr. Dang did *not* include any documentary exhibits designed to establish the existence of that corporate dispute. CP 0575. As a result, the Pre-Hearing Order No. 2 similarly failed to include any such documentation. CP 0608. The significance of Ms. Ringer's omission became apparent in light of the warning set forth in Pre-Hearing Order No. 2 §5 (CP 611, emphasis added):

Exhibits: Documentary evidence not offered in the prehearing conference shall not be received into evidence at the adjudicative proceeding absent good cause. WAC 246-11-390(7). [Emphasis added].

However, when Ms. Ringer cross-examined Franciscan's "associated chief medical officer and vice-president of quality for CHS Franciscan Network," Dr. Kim Moore, the following exchange occurred [CP 790-791 (156:15-157:20)]:

Q [by Ms. Ringer]: Good afternoon, Dr. Moore. I'm Rebecca Ringer and I represent Dr. Dang in this matter. Now, before this phone call on this day back in 2014,6 you were already familiar with the fact that there was ongoing discussion between the ENT specialists and the Franciscans about the issue of community call, correct?

- A [Dr. Moore]: No, I was not aware.
- Q: Did you take over for Tony Haftel?
- A; I did.
- Q: He didn't alert you to the fact that this has been a brewing issue, there is ongoing conversation and this needs to be addressed?
- A: No.
- Q: Were—you were never made award of that in any regard?
- A: No.
- O: How about until right now?
- A: Yes, before today I knew that it was an issue, but not back in 2012.
- Q: And I'm talking about 2014?
- A: 2014.
- Q: So you were unaware that there was this issue between the ENT surgeons and the hospital about call?

⁵ Dr. Moore is an emergency medicine physician and not an ENT.

⁶ "This phone call back in 2014" refers to events related to "Patient C."

- A: No. I knew that the call structure was complicated, but I didn't know that there were issues.
- Q: Okay. Who was the head of the—of the St. Joseph ENT department at the time you took over your job?
- A: I believe it was Dr. Souliere.
- Q: And did you ever read any—or talk to him about this whole issue about community call and the specialist coverage?
- A: No.

Whether due to forgetfulness or malice, Dr. Moore testified in error that she had no knowledge of the ongoing problems relating to patient transfers within the CHI Franciscan Health System that had festered since 2011 and remained unresolved at the time Patients A, B and C had presented to Dr. Dang. CP 617-633. To make matters worse, the MQAC panel expressly found Dr. Moore credible. CP 1337 ¶1.20.

Unprepared to properly cross-examine Dr. Moore with documentary evidence or testimony by Dr. Haftel, Ms. Ringer instead attempted to mitigate the effects of Dr. Moore's surprise testimony by offering email chains into evidence to establish that the dispute over the community call protocols and

procedures had existed and continued without resolution since 2011—and that Dr. Moore had actual knowledge of that dispute. CP 613-617. As Ms. Ringer explained to the MQAC panel [CP 1326]:

[T[he documents were relevant, would speak to Dr. Moore's credibility and only became necessary after Dr. Moore's testimony. [Emphasis added].

However, the MQAC panel excluded the email chains from evidence based on Ms. Ringer's failure to identify and offer them at the pre-hearing conference, commenting [CP 1302-1304 and nn. 1-2; CP 1326-1328 and nn. 3-5]:

Dr. Moore was identified at the prehearing conference as a witness. The Respondent knew or should have known that any documents containing prior statements by Dr. Moore could become relevant. This is especially true given that the documents have been in the Respondent's sole possession since 2011 and 2014 respectively. Thus, these documents should have been disclosed if the Respondent desired to have them become part of the record. Moreover, any uncertainties pertaining to Dr. Moore's testimony could have been resolved by deposing her. However, the Respondent's failure to do either has resulted in prejudice to the Department at this stage of the proceeding. Consequently, the Respondent has failed to demonstrate the necessary good cause for failing to produce evidence

at the prehearing conference. [Emphasis added].

Ms. Ringer's closing argument also opened with and emphasized the inconsistency and uncertainty surrounding Franciscan's community call protocols and procedures for transfer of patients to St. Joe's [CP 1277-1278 (641:2-642:6)]:

This story really is a case of David and Goliath. There is a large healthcare system flexing its muscles. That's what this case is about. . . . There is an ongoing, for many years at this point, discussion, disputes, problem with coverage—call coverage in the Franciscan Health System system and part of it is because the system is growing and yet the—and the expectation is not being changed. . .

Following the administrative hearing, the MQAC determined that: (1) Dr. Dang had not violated RCW 18.130.

180 or EMTALA relative to Patient A; (2) Dr. Dang had not violated EMTALA but had violated RCW 18.130.180 relative to Patient B, and; (3) violated EMTALA and RCW 18.130.180 relative to Patient C. CP 1301, 1324. As punishment, the MQAC ordered two years of oversight of Dr. Dang's medical practice, monitoring requirements, and a \$5,000 fine. *Id*. Shortly thereafter, GHC terminated Dr. Dang's employment

and he has been unable to find employment in his specialty of otolaryngology since then. CP 0414 (Ans. to 'Rog. no. 16).

Ms. Ringer thereafter prepared and filed a Petition for Review of the MQAC decision on behalf of Dr. Dang. CP 380-381 (101:)-103:14), 1348. Soon thereafter, Ms. Ringer and Floyd Pflueger & Ringer withdrew from representing Dr. Dang, who nevertheless continued to pursue the Petition for Review and appeal *pro se*, albeit unsuccessfully, through Division I, which held in pertinent part that "Dr. Dang did not show good cause because he [i.e., Ms. Ringer] did not produce the documentary evidence at the prehearing conference." *Dang v. Wash. DOH (MQAC)*, 10 Wn. App.2d 650, 670-672, 450 P.3d 1189 (2019).

B. Proceedings in the Trial CourtDr. Dang filed his Complaint alleging legal malpractice

⁷ Dang v. Washington DOH, 195 Wn.2d 1004, 458 P.3d 781 (2020), review den'd, U.S. , 141 S. Ct. 371, 208 L. Ed. 2d 94 (2020).

on November 23, 2020. CP 1. The defendants answered the complaint and alleged a counterclaim for \$2,408.44 in fees and expenses allegedly owed by Dr. Dang. CP 033, 039 ¶3.5.

The parties each moved for summary judgment on multiple issues. CP 045-046, 0314-0315. Dr. Dang's summary judgment opposition included the declaration of expert standard of care witness Kenneth S. Kagan. CP 1468. Mr. Kagan is a former WSBA Disciplinary Counsel and a litigator with extensive experience in the representation of health care providers in professional disciplinary proceedings. CP 1469
¶¶3-6. Based on his review, Mr. Kagan opined that Ms.
Ringer's representation of Dr. Dang in the MQAC proceeding fell below the standard of care in multiple respects. CP 1481-485. He also directly addressed the Defendants' attorney judgment rule defense, commenting [CP 1485]:

It is not my position that *no* reasonable lawyer would have made those choices, but it is my position that those judgment were not *informed* decisions. Because those decisions were not made in the exercise of reasonable care, but were made on the basis of

uninformed speculation on Ms. Ringer's part, it is my opinion that she should not benefit from the so-called "attorney judgment rule." [Emphases in original].

On June 7, 2021, the trial court denied Dr. Dang's CR 56(f) motion, granted the defendants' motion for summary judgment and denied Dr. Dang's motion for partial summary judgment. CP 1508, 1510. Dr. Dang timely appealed

C. Proceedings in Division I

The Court of Appeals affirmed dismissal of Dr. Dang's legal malpractice case, holding relative to proximate cause that "we do not review in this appeal the propriety of the findings that MQAC made." 518 P.3d at 683. Based on that limitation, Division I held that no reasonable juror could have concluded that he would have suffered a lesser discipline regardless of Ms. Ringer's breaches of the standard of care.

Division I further held that the attorney judgment rule is not an affirmative defense but, instead, a "component of the standard of care." 518 P.3d 679.

V. ARGUMENT WHY THE COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW

A. Division I Erred When It Refused to Correct the MQAC's Error in Its Interpretation of RCW 18.130.180, Contrary to Barr v. Day.

Application of collateral estoppel in legal malpractice claims poses a unique problem if the defendant/attorney in the legal malpractice case also represented the plaintiff/client in the underlying matter, as here. The seminal treatise, *Legal Malpractice*, thus explains that collateral estoppel does *not* apply "if the client's prior position was induced by the negligence of the attorney, and the attorney's conduct was not adjudicated." 3 Mallen, *supra* §22.61, p. 298.

These principles led to this Court's seminal decision in addressing application of collateral estoppel to the client's legal malpractice claim arising out of the conduct of the client's former attorney in an underlying matter, *i.e.*, *Barr v. Day*, 124 Wn.2d 318, 879 P.2d 912 (1994), in which the Court explained [124 Wn.2d at 326]:

As to the unfairness prong, we note a simple principle. [I]f she [i.e., Mrs. Barr] agreed to the settlement and urged its approval based on attorney misfeasance or nonfeasance, it is not unjust to permit her to rectify her error.

Accord, Schibel v. Eymann, 189 Wn.2d 93, 100, 399 P.3d 1129 (2017); Primiani v. Schneider, supra at *4-5; Ryan v. Ford, 16 S.W.3d 644, 649 (Mo. App. 2000); Channel v. Loyacono, 954 So.2d 415, 426 (Miss. 2007); Smith v. Hastie, 367 S.C. 410, 626 S.E.2d 13, 18-19 (S.C. App. 2005); see further, Restatement (Second) of Judgments §29 (1982).

Thus, if Ms. Ringer's negligence "induced" errors in the interpretation and application of RCW 18.130,180 and/or EMTALA, then Division I erred when it refused to review the MQAC findings based on those erroneous interpretations.

B. Genuine Issues of Material Fact Existed Relative to Proximate Cause.

Here, the MQAC Board concluded that Dr. Dang violated RCW 18.130.180 relative to Patients B and C, and violated the Emergency Medical Treatment and Labor Act

("EMTALA") relative to Patient C.

The question, therefore, is whether the defense established that no genuine issue of material fact remained as to whether the disciplinary panel may have reached a different conclusion, relative to either Patient B or Patient C (or both), if Ms. Ringer had met the standard of care.

RCW 18.30.180

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