FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/30/2022 4:46 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 1014708

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I STATE OF WASHINGTON NO. 83002-3

DR. HUNG DANG M.D., a single person,

Petitioner.

v.

FLOYD PFLUEGER & RINGER, P.S., a Washington Professional Services Corporation, and; REBECCA SUE RINGER, an individual,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

John C. Versnel, III, WSBA No. 1775 Andrew H. Gustafson, WSBA No. 51399 Attorneys for Respondents

LEE SMART, P.S., INC. 701 Pike Street, Suite 1800 Seattle, WA 98101-3929 (206) 624-7990

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

V. ARGUMENT

1. Dr. Dang does not argue that grounds for review exist under RAP 13.4(b)(3) or (4).

Dr. Dang has asserted grounds for Supreme Court review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) only. He does not offer any argument in support of any other basis for this court to accept review. Dr. Dang therefore concedes that review is not warranted under either RAP 13.4(3) or RAP 13.4(4).

2. Review is not warranted under any of the grounds in RAP 13.4.

Dr. Dang claims – wrongly – that grounds for review exist under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2). Pursuant to RAP 13.4, this 7068301.doc Court will grant a petition for review only:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or

(2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of another division of the Court of Appeals[.]

RAP 13.4(b).

Dr. Dang's petition for review should be denied because

it fails to satisfy either basis for Supreme Court review.

Furthermore, nothing in RAP 13.4 or in Washington law

entitles Dr. Dang to review by this Court simply because he

disagrees with the Court of Appeals' decision:

[I]t is a mistake for a party seeking review to make the perceived injustice the focus of attention in the petition for review. RAP 13.4(b) says nothing in its criteria about correcting isolated instances of injustice. This is because the Supreme Court, in passing upon petitions for review, is not operating as a court of error. Rather, it is functioning as the highest policy-making judicial body of the state. ...

The Supreme Court's view in evaluating petitions is global in nature. Consequently, the primary focus of a petition for review should be on why there is a compelling need to have the issue or issues presented decided *generally*. The

significance of the issues must be shown to transcend the particular application of the law in question. Each of the four alternative criteria of RAP 13.4(b) supports this view. The court accepts review sparingly, only approximately 10 percent of the time. Failure to show the court the "big picture" will likely diminish the already statistically slim prospects of review.

Wash. Appellate Prac. Deskbook § 27.11 (1998) (italics in original).

Dr. Dang asserts that Division I "erred" when it (1) "refused to review the MQAC findings based on those erroneous interpretations," Petition for Review at 20; and (2) "held that the attorney judgment rule is a 'component' of the standard of care." *Id.* at 25. Neither assertion is true. Yet even if they were, none of RAP 13.4(b)'s four enumerated grounds permits Supreme Court review merely to correct errors by the Court of Appeals. Rather, Dr. Dang must show that this case is sufficiently exceptional to "transcend the particular application of the law in question." Wash. Appellate Prac. Deskbook § 27.11. He shows nothing of the sort. Thus, neither of these assertions meets RAP 13.4 to warrant the extraordinary step of review by this Court.

3. The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with any decision of this Court.

The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with any Supreme Court decision.

First, Dr. Dang falsely claims that it conflicts with *Barr* v. *Day*, 124 Wn.2d 318, 879 P.2d 912 (1994). Petition for Review at 19.

In *Barr*, this Court held that a client, who obtained judicial approval of a settlement in a personal-injury suit, was not collaterally estopped from later challenging in a legal-malpractice suit against her attorneys, the reasonableness of attorney fees awarded in the settlement. *Id.* at 321. This Court found the fourth element, the injustice prong, of collateral estoppel was not met, holding it would be unjust for the client to be collaterally estopped from bringing a legal malpractice claim if the client agreed to settle the underlying action based on attorney misfeasance or nonfeasance. *Id.* at 326. ^{7068301.doc}

Inexplicably, Dr. Dang contends Division I's decision conflicts with *Barr* by suggesting Ms. Ringer's conduct somehow "induced" errors in the MQAC's findings, and thus "Division I erred when it refused to review the MQAC findings based on those erroneous interpretations." Petition for Review at 20. *Barr* has no application to present action, and even if it did, the Court of Appeals' decision would not conflict with it. Dr. Dang's contention that Division I's opinion somehow conflicts with *Barr* reveals a fundamental misunderstanding of Division I's decision.

Division I did not explicitly hold Dr. Dang is collaterally estopped from challenging the MQAC's findings; the opinion does not even mention collateral estoppel. *Dang*, 518 P.3d 671. Rather, Division I reasoned that it need not determine whether the MQAC's findings were correct

> because the community call emails do not support a conclusion other than that he failed to treat the patient. Because the omitted community call emails would not alter MQAC's factual findings,

they likewise would not alter the panel's conclusions.

Id. at 684.

Again, the alleged negligent conduct solely concerns Ms. Ringer's failure to offer sufficient evidence on the on-call issue, which purportedly was Dr. Dang's "justification" for refusing to treat certain patients. CP 1483. It is plainly clear from the MQAC's findings that Dr. Dang's "justification" for refusing to consult with fellow physicians and treat patients was irrelevant in determining Dr. Dang failed to comply with his professional obligations as a physician. CP 79-90. No amount of additional evidence offered and admitted on the on-call issue would have changed the fact Dr. Dang refused to consult and treat a patient transferred to a facility where he was the on-call ENT specialist. Thus, Division I's decision does not conflict with Barr, because Ms. Ringer's conduct had no negative impact on the outcome of the Underlying Action.

Dr. Dang next asserts genuine issues of material fact with respect to proximate cause by challenging the propriety of the 7068301.doc MQAC's findings entered and affirmed on appeal in *Dang v*. *Wash. DOH*, 195 Wn.2d 1004, 458 P.3d 781 (2020), *review den'd*, U.S. __, 141 S. Ct. 371, 208 L. Ed. 2d 94 (2020). Petition for Review at 20-25. Specifically, Dr. Dang attempts to relitigate (1) whether he violated RCW 18.130.180 relative to Patients B and C and (2) whether he violated EMTALA relative to Patient C. Petition for Review at 20-21. Dr. Dang offers nothing new, but simply rehashes arguments set forth in his opening appeal briefs in this action and in the Underlying Action. He fails to explain how Division I's causation analysis in the context of legal malpractice conflicts with any Supreme Court decision.

Division I's decision follows this Court's settled precedent: a legal malpractice plaintiff must offer proof that he would have fared better but for the attorney's conduct. *Daugert v. Pappas*, 104 Wn.2d 254, 257-59, 704 P.2d 600 (1985); WPI 107.07 (7th ed. 2019).

Here, Dr. Dang's claim necessarily failed because he 7068301.doc

offered no such proof. He failed to meet his burden of proving that additional evidence at the hearing concerning his basis for disputing call responsibilities would have changed the fact he failed to consult with fellow physicians and treat patients. When setting forth the undisputed facts supporting the MQAC's conclusions that Dr. Dang violated RCW 18.130.180 and EMTALA, the Panel stated:

2.4 Here, the Respondent's refusal to aid and consult with fellow physicians while acting as an on-call specialist, constitute acts of moral turpitude and lowers the standing of the profession in the eyes of the public.

• • •

2.6 Here, the Respondent's refusal to consult with fellow physicians and treat patients, while acting as an on-call specialist, created an unreasonable risk of patient harm.

• • •

2.8 Here, the Respondent violated EMTALA when he failed to appear in the SJMC emergency department to treat Patient C, while on call for SJMC as an ENT specialist.

CP 87-89. Clearly, any offer of additional evidence by Dr.

Dang as to his purported "justification" for his refusal to treat 7068301.doc

patients would have made no difference in the order issued by the MQAC. Thus, Dr. Dang cannot show a trier of fact could reasonably find Dr. Dang would have fared better but for Ms. Ringer's conduct.

Next, Dr. Dang contends that the analysis of the attorney judgment rule in Division I's opinion conflicts with *Fergen v*. *Sestero*, 182 Wn.2d 794, 346 P.3d 708 (2015). In *Fergen*, a medical-malpractice action, the petitioner-plaintiff challenged the propriety of the following exercise-of-judgment instruction: "A physician is not liable for selecting one of two or more alternative diagnoses, if, in arriving at a diagnoses a physician exercised reasonable care and skill within the standard of care the physician was obligated to follow." *Id.* at 800-01. In affirming the use of that instruction, this Court held:

It is used to clarify the general standard of care; it does not alter it or add any additional elements for a plaintiff to prove. We follow this clear precedent and again approve of the use of the exercise of judgment jury instruction here.

Id. at 805 (emphasis added).

Curiously, Dr. Dang contends Division I's opinion conflicts with *Fergen* by suggesting the opinion somehow requires a legal-malpractice plaintiff to prove an additional element, simply because Division I referred to the attorney judgment rule as a "component" of the standard of care. Petition for Review at 26.

This Court has long held that an attorney is not liable for malpractice where the method employed to solve a legal problem is one recognized and approved by reasonably skilled attorneys practicing in the community as a proper method in the particular case. Cook, Flanagan & Berst v. Clausing, 73 Wn.2d 393, 396, 438 P.2d 865 (1968). The attorney judgment rule insulates an attorney from liability for making an erroneous decision involving honest, good faith judgment if (1) that decision was within the range of reasonable alternatives from the perspective of a reasonable, careful and prudent attorney in Washington; and (2) in making that judgment the attorney exercised reasonable care. Clark Cty. Fire Dist. No. 5 v. 7068301.doc

Bullivant Houser Bailey P.C., 180 Wn. App. 689, 701-704, 324 P.3d 743 (2014).

Contrary to Dr. Dang's assertion, the Court of Appeals' analysis of the attorney judgment rule clearly adheres to *Fergen*. Nowhere does Division I's opinion hold that a legalmalpractice plaintiff must prove any sort of "additional element" to establish a violation of the standard of care. Rather, Division I correctly determined the attorney judgment rule provides context when evaluating the sufficiency of the plaintiff's evidence on breach:

> The attorney judgment rule reflects that a range of strategic approaches may be reasonable and within the standard of care in a given representation, notwithstanding that a reasonable strategy based on an appropriate evaluation may not lead to the desired outcome.

> This principle is not an affirmative defense that must be pleaded in a defendant's answer CR 8, but rather **reflects the definition of the standard of care.** By definition, when a professional judgment or a trial tactic falls into the attorney judgment rule because it was a reasonable decision, appropriately arrived at, within the standard of care, and made in good faith, it does not amount to negligence.

Dang, 518 P.3d at 679 (emphasis added). Clearly, Division I's analysis of the attorney judgment rule is in harmony with *Fergen*, as Division I used the rule merely "to clarify the general standard of care."

Because Division I's opinion does not conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court, Dr. Dang's Petition for Review must be denied.

4. The Court of Appeals' decision in this case does not conflict with the Court of Appeals' decisions in *Spencer* and *Clark Cty. Fire Dist.*

Finally, Dr. Dang claims Division I's holding that the attorney judgment rule is not an affirmative defense conflicts with language in the Court of Appeals' decisions in *Clark Cty*. *Fire Dist.*, 180 Wn. App. at 707, and in *Spencer v. Badgley Mullins Turner PLLC*, 6 Wn. App. 2d 762, 796, 432 P.3d 821 (2018). Petition for Review at 26. Yet the context of these cases shows Dr. Dang's form-over-substance assertion is misplaced.

In *Spencer*, a jury found that an attorney committed legal malpractice by failing to submit available evidence that plaintiffs would have been able to buy out co-owners of investment real estate, to avoid a sale to a third party. *Spencer*, 6 Wn. App. 2d at 770-72. While *Spencer* described the attorney judgment rule as an affirmative defense to a legal-malpractice claim, that statement was dicta. The *Spencer* court said so when evaluating a breach of fiduciary duty claim based on alleged violations of the Rules of Processional Conduct ("RPC"). *Id.* at 793-96. The trial court held the attorney did not violate any RPC and did not breach any fiduciary duty. *Id.* at 800-01.

The *Spencer* court's comment about the attorney judgment rule concerned whether an attorney's good-faith exercise of judgment may be asserted as a defense to a claim that the attorney had violated the RPCs. *Id.* at 796. *Spencer* did not comment on the elements of legal malpractice, but merely identified the issue raised by the parties of whether good 7068301.doc faith may be a defense to alleged RPC violations. *Spencer* ultimately did not determine whether the attorney judgment rule would provide a defense to alleged RPC violations, because the court affirmed the trial court's findings that the attorney did not violate the RPCs. *Id.* at 796.

Division I's opinion plainly does not conflict with *Spencer*, as *Spencer* was not even evaluating the attorney judgment rule in the context of a legal-malpractice claim. Moreover, *Spencer* did **not** apply the attorney judgment rule as a defense requiring the defendant-attorney to make an affirmative showing.

Although the *Clark Cty. Fire Dist.* court referred to the attorney judgment rule as an affirmative defense, **the court analyzed the rule in the context of evaluating the sufficiency of the plaintiff's evidence on breach**. *Clark Cty. Fire Dist.*, 180 Wn. App. at 701, 705. The court held that plaintiff's expert testimony that the attorney's decisions violated the standard of care supported the inference that the decisions were not within 7068301.doc

the range of reasonable alternatives from the perspective of a reasonably prudent attorney. *Id.* at 702, 709, 711. As in *Spencer*, the court in *Clark Cty. Fire Dist.* did not apply the attorney judgment rule as an affirmative defense requiring the defendant-attorney to make any sort of affirmative showing.

Here, Division I's opinion in the present action conforms with the decision in *Clark Cty. Fire Dist.* Just as in *Clark Cty. Fire Dist.*, Division I reasoned the attorney judgment rule provides context when evaluating the sufficiency of the plaintiff's evidence on breach, and "reflects the definition of the standard of care." *Dang*, 518 P.3d at 679.

Thus, because Division I's opinion does not conflict with another Court of Appeals' decision, RAP 13.4(b)(2) is not a proper basis for this Court to accept review. Dr. Dang's Petition for Review must be denied.

VI. CONCLUSION

Dr. Dang has not presented grounds under RAP 13.4(b) on which this Court should grant review. Accordingly, Ms. Ringer